I. INTRODUCTION 

Plaintiff-Appellant Jonathan J. Sprague (“Sprague”) was employed 

as a firefighter by Defendant-Respondent Spokane Valley Fire Department 

(“SVFD”) from 1995 to 2012.  He was promoted to the rank of captain.  

Prior to the dispute over his speech which included his religious viewpoints, 

he had never been disciplined and was described by SVFD as an excellent 

firefighter.  In the course of department-wide electronic communication 

system1 discussions of topics such as suicide prevention, Sprague expressed 

personal views including references to religious viewpoints on those topics.  

SVFD informed Sprague, initially, that communications citing explicitly to 

the Bible were prohibited by SVFD policy.  SVFD later justified this policy 

as being “content-neutral,” but in fact was enforcing a policy creating a 

“religion-free zone” at the workplace.  SVFD further explained later that 

not only biblical citations but in fact communicating any religious viewpoint 

over its systems violated SVFD policy.  Believing that SVFD was imposing 

                                                 
1 Because the SVFD policy was applied equally to both SVFD’s email and intranet 
“bulletin board” systems, this brief will describe both of those systems cumulatively as 
the SVFD internal electronic communication systems.  To understand what the SVFD 
bulletin board system was, imagine a type of “Craig’s list” where only SVFD employees 
(not the public) can post on everything from fundraisers to general discussions of broad 
ranging topics to selling hay or children’s bikes.  In fact, the ONLY speech prohibited 
from the bulletin board system was speech which included religious viewpoints.  It was 
described by various SVFD personnel as a type of electronic substitute for the old-
fashioned cork-board bulletin board. 
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restrictions that were contrary to constitutional guarantees of neutrality 

toward religion, Sprague continued expressing his constitutionally 

protected views.  SVFD treated his behavior as insubordinate and initiated 

employee discipline. 

When first advised of the new speech policy, Sprague lodged a 

complaint with SVFD’s governing board, which authorized an 

investigation.  This investigation was conducted by SVFD’s longstanding 

contract attorney who concluded SVFD’s policies did not violate the 

constitution.  In reliance on its belief in the constitutionality of its policy, 

SVFD then fired Sprague for being insubordinate by violating the policy 

that prohibited religious viewpoints in SVFD internal electronic systems.  

Sprague then asked the Civil Service Commission (the “Commission”)2 for 

an administrative review of SVFD’s decision seeking reinstatement of his 

employment, but the Commission upheld SVFD’s decision to terminate 

Sprague, concluding that SVFD’s policy was lawful.3 

Sprague next filed suit in Superior Court seeking damages for his 

wrongful termination and injunctive relief from SVFD’s unconstitutional 

                                                 
2 The Commission is a panel of three non-lawyers appointed by the governing board of 
SVFD to hear administrative appeals of SVFD personnel and human resource decisions.  

3 There is no dispute that SVFD’s policy on insubordination acknowledges, as it must, 
that insubordination occurs only when a firefighter fails to follow a lawful command. 
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policy.  SVFD defended its policies and its termination of Sprague by 

asserting the affirmative defense of collateral estoppel.  Both SVFD and 

Sprague sought summary judgment from the trial court:  Sprague sought 

injunctive relief based upon the undisputed evidence regarding the 

unconstitutional nature of SVFD’s policy, while SVFD argued that Sprague 

was collaterally estopped from challenging the constitutionality of SVFD’s 

policy because that issue had been determined at the Civil Service 

Commission hearing.  

The trial court heard both motions on the same day.  The trial court 

ruled that collateral estoppel prevented Sprague from challenging either the 

constitutionality of SVFD’s policy or SVFD’s decision to terminate him.  

The trial court then dismissed all of Sprague’s claims with prejudice.  This 

appeal followed. 
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II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1.  The trial court erred in finding that a government agency is 

allowed to single out religious speech for exclusion from otherwise open 

discussion of personal views addressing value-laden subjects such as 

suicide prevention and leadership. 

2.  The trial court erred by giving preclusive effect under the doctrine 

of collateral estoppel to a legal conclusion reached by an administrative 

commission that lacked both subject matter jurisdiction and competence to 

decide a legal issue—the constitutionality of SVFD’s policy. 

3.  The trial court erred in dismissing claims for injunctive relief and 

retaliation based on collateral estoppel where the previous adjudication was 

limited to the internal administrative appeal of Sprague’s termination. 

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1.  Is it lawful for a government agency to single out speech because 

it contains a religious viewpoint for exclusion from the same forum in which 

the agency is otherwise participating and allowing an open discussion of 

issues such as suicide prevention and leadership? 

2.  Should a legal conclusion reached by an administrative body 

regarding the constitutionality of a governmental restriction on free speech 
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be given preclusive effect under the doctrine of collateral estoppel to bar 

subsequent review of the constitutionality of that government restriction? 

3.  Should a trial court dismiss all claims, including declaratory and 

injunctive relief, based upon an administrative agency’s findings regarding 

wrongful termination? 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Sprague began his employment with SVFD in 1995.  His initial rank 

was “firefighter.”  He was promoted to captain in 2005.  CP 26.  As an 

employee of SVFD Sprague was given access to the email system and an 

electronic bulletin board that was available for use by all employees.  CP 26.  

Employees were also allowed to access the internet using SVFD computers.  

CP 26.  In 2010 Sprague and others formed the Spokane Valley Christian 

Firefighter Fellowship (“Fellowship”).  CP 82.  Sprague used the email 

system to alert fellow employees to the existence of the Fellowship and its 

activities.  In 2010 SVFD installed an internet filter that prevented 

employees from accessing religious websites.  CP 26.  At the same time, 

employees were able to access other types of websites.  CP 26. 

SVFD turned next to prohibiting expression of religious viewpoints 

in its internal electronic systems, justifying the prohibition under SVFD 

Policy 171, which states “the use of the electronic mail system is reserved 

solely for SVFD business and should not be used for personal business.”  

CP 373.  However, according to Valerie Biladeau, the CR 30(b)(6) 

representative designated by SVFD, employees were permitted to use the 

email system for personal business so long as the personal business was 

“linked to SVFD business.”  CP 351.  For example, if an employee needed 

to stay past normal working hours and needed to make arrangements to take 
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care of the employee’s dog, that would be a permissible use because of 

“could be linked to SVFD business.” CP 351.  SVFD later shifted this 

explanation again, admitting the policy as implemented was focused on 

preventing expression of religious viewpoints rather than preventing 

communication of all “personal business”:   

He could send an e-mail that said the Spokane Christian 
firefighter fellowship is going to meet on Monday at six 
p.m. at such and such a place for fellowship.  He could 
have done that all day long if he wanted to.  It was because 
he was using religious signs and Scripture that was the 
problem. 

 
CP 481 (SVFD 30(b)(6) Depo.).4  The policy was enforced in this manner 

as well, focusing explicitly on religious viewpoints rather than “personal 

business.”  CP 361.  SVFD admitted Sprague had been told his 

communication was inappropriate under the policy and would need to be 

edited because:  

He had quoted Scripture at the bottom of his e-mail,  
and I had said, “The content of the who, where, what, why 
and when is okay, but please remove the Scripture.” 

 
CP 362 (emphasis added).     

In this litigation, SVFD has denied having a policy prohibiting the 

sending communication with religious content using SVFD internal 

                                                 
4 Valerie Biladeau was SVFD’s Human Resources Manager at all relevant times and was 
the sole individual designated by SVFD to testify on its behalf on all topics related to this 
lawsuit. 
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communication systems, CP 485.  However, before the present lawsuit was 

filed every description by SVFD reprimanding or disciplining Sprague 

described his violation of its policy as being the sending of communications 

“of a religious nature”: 

1. SVFD’s April 20, 2012 letter disciplines Jon for “the use of 

language and written content that was of a religious nature, 

specifically quotation of scripture.”  CP 379. 

2. SVFD’s May 2, 2012 letter of reprimand disciplines Jon for 

“written content that was of a religious nature, including religious 

symbols.”  CP 382.   

3. SVFD’s June 13, 2012 letter proposing to suspend Jon describes 

prohibited behavior as “written content that was of a religious 

nature.”  CP 392.   

4. SVFD’s September 6, 2012 letter proposing to terminate Jon’s 

employment describes his prohibited behavior as including 

“written content that was of a religious nature.”  CP 397. 

 
SVFD believed that it was justified in singling out religious 

expression for exclusion from the personal uses that were otherwise 

permissible because it claimed to be applying a “content-neutral” 

restriction.  CP 362.  As will be discussed below, SVFD misunderstood 

what it means to apply a “content-neutral” restriction on speech.  SVFD 
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understood it to mean that SVFD could impose a policy that would create 

in effect a “religion-free” zone in the workplace.   

Sprague believed that SVFD was imposing an unconstitutional 

limitation on his communication and that he was entitled to continue to alert 

his fellow employees of activities of the Fellowship as well as to express 

his views on topics, such as suicide prevention or leadership, that were 

being discussed by other employees, including SVFD management, by way 

of email. CP 80.   

As part of its official business, SVFD employees discussed topics 

such as suicide prevention or leadership that were relevant to the tasks to 

which Sprague and other employees were assigned.  CP 84.  In the course 

of a discussion on suicide prevention, Sprague expressed viewpoints that 

reflected his religious beliefs.  CP 84.  Chief Thompson then directed 

Sprague to discontinue any reference to religious beliefs because doing so 

constituted “personal use” of the email system that was prohibited by SVFD 

policy.  When Sprague continued to exercise what he thought were his 

constitutional rights, SVFD viewed his conduct as insubordination.  

Sprague explained through testimony that the focus of his last several 

newsletters and emails which led to his termination focused on suicide 

prevention and leadership topics identical to SVFD-sponsored training and 

emails, but of course this speech from his perspective was informed by his 
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religious viewpoint.  CP 84.  He was first reprimanded, then suspended, and 

finally terminated from employment. 

Sprague appealed to the Civil Service Commission to reverse 

SVFD’s termination.  Although he knew that the Commission had limited 

ability to recognize his constitutional claims, he believed that he should 

pursue the more expeditious path to his reinstatement.  A hearing was 

conducted on October 8, 2012.  On March 21, 2013 the Commission entered 

its decision, finding that Sprague’s termination was justified because, they 

concluded, the policy being violated was a lawful policy.  

On March 21, 2014 Sprague filed suit in Superior Court seeking an 

injunction against further enforcement of SVFD’s policy, reinstatement, 

damages for wrongful termination, and ancillary relief.  CP 3-10.5  SVFD 

answered and subsequently filed a motion for summary judgment of 

dismissal based upon collateral estoppel.  CP 37-48.  In addition to 

responding to SVFD’s motion for summary judgment for dismissal (CP 

407-419), Sprague filed a motion for partial summary judgment, asking the 

court to determine the constitutionality of SVFD’s policy, and to enter an 

order enjoining future enforcement of SVFD’s policy.  CP 334-343.   

                                                 
5 An amended complaint was filed on July 22, 2014.  CP 13-23. 
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The trial court heard both motions in a consolidated hearing on May 

8, 2015.  The trial court ruled that although the Commission “would not 

have the competence to make a legal conclusion about constitutionality,” 

RP 50, the Commission was nonetheless a forum which  

can make factual findings, including factual findings which 
may support or not support a constitutional finding.  It is 
just the constitutional finding they cannot make.  But they 
made all the necessary findings to support one and the issue 
was argued to them.  This case was not appealed and 
therefore the decision of the Civil Service Commission 
collaterally estops re-litigation of any of the matters before 
them, including whether or not the fire department rule in 
question here is unconstitutional. 
 

RP 50-51.   
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V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Jonathan Sprague’s employer, a government agency, imposed 

restrictions on employee speech that it claims were “content neutral” but in 

fact singled out religion for adverse treatment compared to all other 

viewpoints which were allowed.  SVFD mistakenly believed that this policy 

was not only constitutionally permitted, but actually required by the 

principle of “separation of church and state.”  Sprague presented evidence 

to the trial court establishing that there was no genuine issue of material fact 

concerning the nature of the policy, and cited applicable case law that would 

render the policy unconstitutional as a matter of law. 

SVFD sought to avoid an evaluation of the policy by claiming that 

a prior proceeding before the Civil Service Commission should be given 

collateral estoppel effect, precluding a reconsideration of the 

constitutionality of SVFD’s policy.  The trial court mistakenly adopted this 

reasoning, ignoring the limitations on the subject matter jurisdiction of the 

Commission (as distinguished from the Superior Court) to grant injunctive 

relief, as well as the Commission’s lack of competence to decide legal issues 

such as the constitutionality of an agency policy.  
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VI. ARGUMENT 

A. SVFD’s policy was not “content-neutral” because it placed 
unconstitutional restrictions on speech containing religious 
viewpoints while allowing other viewpoints on the same 
topics. 

This case arises out of a basic misunderstanding of what it means to 

impose a content-neutral restriction on speech.  “[R]estrictions on speech 

are content neutral if they do not regulate on the basis of viewpoint or 

classify speech in terms of subject matter.” Catsiff v. McCarty, 167 Wn. 

App. 698, 274 P.3d 1063 (Div. 3 2012) (city’s size and height restrictions 

on billboards were content neutral and therefore constitutional); Collier v. 

City of Tacoma, 121 Wn.2d 737, 854 P.2d 1046 (1993) (ban on signs 

containing political messages was not content neutral and could not be 

justified by compelling state interest).   

SVFD disciplined Sprague for including religious content and a 

religious viewpoint in his email messages and in his use of the SVFD 

electronic bulletin board.  Although SVFD claimed to rely upon Policy 171, 

which prohibited the use of the email system for personal use, it is clear 

from the record that Policy 171 was understood to permit the use of the 

email system for personal use so long as it was “linked to SVFD business.”  

CP 351. Thus, according to SVFD’s CR 30(b)(6) representative, Valerie 

Biladeau, it was permissible to use the email system to make arrangements 
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for taking care of one’s dog if such were necessary to facilitate working past 

normal business hours.  CP 351.  On the other hand, SVFD required that 

any email communications would have to remain “content-neutral,” by 

which SVFD meant they must refrain from expressing religious viewpoints 

or addressing otherwise relevant topics others were discussing from a 

religious perspective.   

It is clear from reading the record that SVFD did not apply a policy 

that was “content neutral,” but instead imposed a “religion-free zone” in the 

workplace.  Such a policy is not required by state or federal law; rather, it 

violates state and federal law prohibiting governmental agencies from 

treating religion with more hostility than other viewpoints or topics. 

1. There is no genuine dispute regarding the content of 
SVFD’s policy, and thus Sprague is entitled to 
judgment as a matter of law.   

 
As the Statement of Facts makes clear, there is no genuine dispute 

as to the policy that SVFD followed.  By their own description of the policy, 

SVFD permitted a wide variety of “personal uses” of the email system and 

the electronic bulletin board, so long as they were “linked to SVFD 

business.”  Despite this wide latitude, SVFD disciplined Sprague for 

making use of the electronic bulletin board to promote the activities of the 

Fellowship, and expressed viewpoints in email exchanges that reflected his 
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religious beliefs.  SVFD freely admits that it singled out Sprague’s 

expression of religious views—for example, his citation of Scripture—for 

adverse treatment.  CP 361-62.   

Moreover, in its Findings and Decision, the Civil Service 

Commission explicitly stated that Sprague was disciplined because he 

included religious messages and religious viewpoints in both his emails and 

his use of the electronic bulletin board: 

The facts relating to this matter are, for the most part, 
undisputed.  Chief Thompson had engaged in progressive 
discipline of Sprague for violating direct orders not to use 
the Spokane Valley Fire Department’s property, in this 
case, internal electronic bulletin board and electronic mail 
system to express to other fire fighters his Christian views 
on a number of topics, both arguably of a religious and 
secular nature, including quoting scripture from the Bible. 
 

CP 51. 

It would be one thing if the policy adopted by SVFD were truly 

content neutral.  If, for example, SVFD had forbidden the use of the email 

system or the electronic bulletin board for any personal use, or had restricted 

use of the email system for communication about the actual operation of the 

Department, then the expression of personal views might be subject to 

discipline.  But the facts in this case are quite the opposite.  SVFD sent out 

emails, and invited follow-up discussion by employees, concerning a wide 

variety of topics, including information concerning “marital counseling, 
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depression, drug issues, family issues, health issues, alcohol issues, a whole 

bunch of mental health issues . . . .”6 A quarterly newsletter was sent out 

inviting employees to explore ways to deal with such issues, including 

meditation.  CP 353.  When Sprague entered into the discussion of these 

issues and offered his own perspective, he was addressing the same topic 

that SVFD had held out the email system to address; the only difference was 

that his point of view included religious beliefs, and those were viewed by 

SVFD as being a violation of SVFD’s “content neutral” policy: 

Q Under your view of the department's policy, the e-mails and 
newsletters that Jon sent specifically with his newsletters, were 
they in some way categorically different from the EAP 
newsletters? [Objection omitted]. 

A I think they were substantially different than the EAP 
newsletters 

Q (By Mr. Albrecht) Okay. 
A -- in that they were not content neutral. 
Q What was not content neutral about them? 
A They were -- if you're talking about his newsletter, they were 

driven to his belief as he sees his studies in Christ. That's not 
content neutral. 

Q Okay. And they were offering tips often on the same exact 
topics as EAP newsletters? 

A Only from his individual perspective of his interpretation of 
what he had read in the Bible. 

 

                                                 
6 Deposition of Valerie Biladeau, CP 352.  In addition, the Employee Assistant Program 
emails sent out by SVFD’s HR Department in February 2012 dealt with suicide 
prevention and the July 2012 newsletter addressed leadership goals like helping a team 
avoid gambling and binge drinking problems.  CP 88-89.   
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CP 354-54 (emphasis added).  Although Ms. Biladeau described SVFD’s

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