JAN 11 2016

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION HI STATE OF WASHINGTON By.....

No. 333523

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION III

JONATHAN J. SPRAGUE, a married man,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

SPOKANE VALLEY FIRE DEPARTMENT, a fire district; MIKE THOMPSON and LINDA THOMPSON, husband and wife, and the marital community composed thereof,

Defendants/Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Michael J. M^cMahon, WSBA No. 6895 Jeffrey R. Galloway, WSBA No. 44059 Etter, M^cMahon, Lamberson, Van Wert & Oreskovich, P.C. 618 W. Riverside, Suite 210 Spokane, WA 99201-0602 (509) 747-9100 Attorneys for Respondents

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

Mr. Sprague's actions, performed in his official capacity as Captain for SVFD, violated the Establishment Clause per the *Lemon* test. *See Lemon*, 403 U.S. at 612-13. His actions had a non-secular purpose and the effect of furthering religion, as well as his own personal religious beliefs. His actions created the impression of excessive government entanglement with religion. As a result, SVFD constitutionally limited Mr. Sprague's dissemination of religious content, while acting in his official capacity, and utilizing public resources.

Despite being directed otherwise, Mr. Sprague continued to express his personal religious beliefs via posting religious messages on both the electronic and physical bulletin boards. CP 147-149; 151; 153-155; 157-158; 160-162; 164-166; 168-170; 172-196; 201; 203; 208-211. SVFD cannot appear to endorse religion. As such, SVFD's limits on

religious expression in the workplace are constitutional under both *Pickering* and *Lemon*.

B. The trial court properly granted SVFD's Motion for Summary Judgment as Mr. Sprague's claims are barred by collateral estoppel.

"Collateral estoppel, or issue preclusion, bars relitigation of an issue in a subsequent proceeding involving the same parties." *Christensen v. Grant Cnty. Hosp. Dist. No. 1*, 152 Wn.2d 299, 306, 96 P.3d 957 (2004). Collateral estoppel "prevent[s] a second litigation of *issues* between the parties, even though a different claim or cause of action is asserted." *Christensen*, 152 Wn.2d at 306, 96 P.3d 957 (emphasis in original) (quoting *Rains v. State*, 100 Wn.2d 660, 665, 674 P.2d 165 (1983)). It "promotes judicial economy." *Id.* It involves "principles of repose and concerns about the resources entailed in repetitive litigation." *Id.* at 306-307, 96 P.3d 957 (citing Tegland, *Civil Procedure* § 35.21, at 446). Collateral estoppel "provides for finality in adjudications." *Christensen*, 152 Wn.2d at 306, 96 P.3d 957 (citation omitted).

A party against whom collateral estoppel is asserted must have had "a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue in the earlier proceeding." *Christensen*, 152 Wn.2d at 307, 96 P.3d 957 (citing *Nielson by and through Nielson v. Spanaway Gen. Med. Clinic, Inc.*, 135 Wn.2d 255, 264-65, 956 P.2d 312 (1998)). There are four elements:

(1) identical issues, (2) a final judgment on the merits; (3) the party against whom the plea is asserted must have been a party to or in privity with a party to the prior adjudication; and (4) application of the doctrine must not work an injustice on the party against whom the doctrine is to be applied.

Shoemaker v. City of Bremerton, 109 Wn.2d 504, 508, 745 P.2d 858 (1987). When collateral estoppel is applied to administrative adjudications there are three additional "factors" to consider: "(1) whether the agency acting within its competence made a factual decision; (2) agency and court procedural differences; and (3) policy considerations." *Id.* The Shoemaker court determined *En Banc* that the Civil Service Commission's hearing process satisfies the three additional factors for application of collateral estoppel. *Id.* at 508-511, 745 P.2d 858.

- 1. Analysis of the four general elements for collateral estoppel.
 - i. The issues decided by the Commission are the same issues now before this Court.

As shown, Mr. Sprague argued that he was discriminatorily discharged based on his religious beliefs, practice and violation of his civil rights in the Civil Service proceeding. CP 65. To reiterate, Mr. Sprague contended the Department:

violate[d] the rights guaranteed each employee of the Spokane Valley Fire

Department under the First Amendment of the U.S. Constitution, Article 1 Section 11 of the State of Washington Constitution, federal law as found in Title [VII] of the Civil Rights Act, and as fully articulated under EEOC guidelines, as Washington state law is found in the RCWs and a large consistent body of current case law.

Id.

Review of the Amended Complaint demonstrates that Mr. Sprague has made the same arguments in the instant case. CP 17-22. Even if the Court accepts for the sake of argument that the claims in this case are different, they are foreclosed because they are dependent on the same facts decided by the Civil Service Commission, i.e. Mr. Sprague was terminated in good faith, for cause and not for religious reasons. CP 98-104; RCW 41.08.090.

As the trial court correctly stated:

Here, there is not a substantial question among the parties about the issues that were before that commission. Obviously it resulted in the termination of Mr. Sprague. The reasons for the termination centered around the communication of his religious point of view in internal e-mails, a non-public forum, there is no disagreement about that. This is a non-public forum with regard to the fire department. The issues are clearly set out by the parties in that case.

Let me put it this way. Those issues are the same in this case.

RP 45:22-46:7. The first element of collateral estoppel is met.

ii. The Civil Service Commission proceeding ended in a judgment on the merits.

The Commission conclusively determined that Mr. Sprague was properly terminated; and the decision was not appealed within the thirty days required by the controlling statute, RCW 41.08.090. CP 98-104. Consequently, the determination of good faith, for cause and no religious discrimination became final and binding on Mr. Sprague. The second element of collateral estoppel is met.

iii. The party against whom collateral estoppel is asserted, (Mr. Sprague), was a party to the Civil Service Commission proceeding.

It cannot be disputed that Mr. Sprague was a party to the Civil Service Proceeding. CP 98-104. The third element for application of collateral estoppel is met.

iv. Application of collateral estoppel does not work an injustice to Mr. Sprague.

"The injustice component is generally concerned with procedural, not substantive irregularity." *Christensen*, 152 Wn.2d at 309, 96 P.3d 957 (citation omitted). "This is consistent with the requirement that the party against whom the doctrine is asserted must have had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue in the first forum." *Id.* It cannot be

disputed that Mr. Sprague had a full hearing on his theory for religious discrimination in violation of his civil rights before the Civil Service Commission. CP 63-96; 98-104. The fourth element for application of collateral estoppel is met.

2. Analysis of the three factors for application of collateral estoppel to an administrative proceeding.

The *Shoemaker* case involved a police officer who submitted that he had been demoted in retaliation for exercising his rights. 109 Wn.2d at 505-06, 745 P.2d 858. Like Mr. Sprague, the police officer participated in a Civil Service administrative proceeding. *Id.* at 506, 745 P.2d 858. Shoemaker was represented by union counsel; allowed to give an opening statement; offer witnesses; offer exhibits; cross examine department witnesses; and submit a post-hearing brief on his theories. *Id.* As shown above, Mr. Sprague utilized these features of procedural fairness in this case. CP 63-96. The *Shoemaker* court assessed these features and "determined that administrative collateral estoppel is appropriate" in a Civil Service setting. *Id.* at 511, 745 P.2d 858.

i. The Civil Service acted within is competence and made a factual decision.

Mr. Sprague attempts to suggest that the Civil Service Commission evaluated the constitutionality of SVFD's policy. However, as the trial court correctly noted, the Civil Service Commission did not address the

constitutionality of SVFD's policy, but rather, addressed the application of the policy, which is squarely within the competence of the Commission.

As the trial court stated:

The Civil Service Commission addressed the underpinnings of the fire department's policy from a constitutional perspective because that was at issue.

... I believe there is no question that an administrative agency cannot make a finding of unconstitutionality; they do not have the competence and authority to do so. But the agency can make findings with regard to the evaluation of the policy and the applicability of the policy to the facts.

... While an agency cannot rule that the policy was unconstitutional, they could reject the fire department policy and its application in this case.

By the same token, when there is a challenge to the constitutionality, either directly or indirectly, of either the fire department policy or the application of the policy, they can take testimony on the policy content, how it is applied on a regular basis, and they can make findings in order to address those issues. They are not prohibited from doing that. That is not outside their competence.

In this case, they made findings that the policy applied to a non-public forum. We all agree there is no dispute about that. They included both the bulletin board and the email system in their findings. They articulated what they believe the standard to

be; that any restrictions on speech with regard to use of the e-mail system must be reasonable, and not an effort to suppress particular points of view that the fire department may not like.

...

The Civil Service Commission recognized that and said that policy, in their view, passes muster under the Supreme Court cases they cited, the *Perry* case and the *Cornelius* case. They were satisfied that this was not a situation where there was an intent to support one viewpoint as opposed to another. The department was neutral.

RP 46:7 – 47-15; 49:3 – 49:9.

RCW 41.08.090 empowers the Civil Service Commission to determine whether a firefighter was removed, suspended, demoted, or discharged in good faith, for cause and not for religious reasons. In Mr. Sprague's case, the Commission exercised its statutory authority and made factual findings that Mr. Sprague was terminated in good faith, for cause and not for religious reasons. CP 98-104.

ii. The relevant procedural protections for administrative collateral estoppel were present in the Civil Service proceeding.

In *Shoemaker*, the court analyzed the "differences between agency and ordinary adjudication which are relevant in determining the adequacy of agency adjudication for collateral estoppel" and concluded the Civil

Service process satisfies the second administrative collateral estoppel factor. *Shoemaker*, 109 Wn.2d at 508-510, 745 P.2d 858. The procedure provided by the Civil Service in Mr. Sprague's case were equal to or exceeded the process approved in *Shoemaker*.

As indicated, Shoemaker was represented by union counsel; as was Mr. Sprague in the instant case. Id. at 506, 745 P.2d 858. Shoemaker's lawyer was allowed to give an opening statement. Id. Herein, Mr. Sprague chose to give his own opening statement. CP 65. Shoemaker was allowed to call witnesses; as was Mr. Sprague in the instant case. Shoemaker, 109 Wn.2d at 506, 745 P.2d 858. Shoemaker was allowed to cross examine the department witnesses; as was Mr. Sprague in the instant Shoemaker was allowed to examine documents of the case. Department; as Mr. Sprague did in the instant case. Id. Mr. Sprague also submitted his own exhibits. CP 249-294. Objections were heard and ruled on; as they were in Mr. Sprague's case. Shoemaker, 109 Wn.2d at 506, 745 P.2d 858. In the instant case, in lieu of closing argument the parties submitted post hearing briefs. CP 296-311; 313-324. As in Shoemaker, the Commission issued findings of fact and conclusions of law. 109 Wn.2d at 510, 745 P.2d 858; CP 98-104. The Civil Service Commission in Shoemaker had a lawyer assist in the proceedings, facilitate due process and make legal rulings. 109 Wn.2d at 506, 745 P.2d

858. Similar to *Shoemaker*, in the instant case, the Civil Service Commission had a lawyer who facilitated due process and helped it rule on evidentiary issues. CP 98-104. Mr. Sprague's Civil Service administrative proceeding equaled or exceeded the process authorized in *Shoemaker*.

The trial court recognized that Mr. Sprague was properly afforded all the procedural safeguards available. The trial court stated:

Procedurally, nobody has really argued that there was not full procedures here for all the parties to appear, present testimony, evidence, final briefing. There was a transcript. All of these indicate that as an administrative action, this was done fairly, it was done with full due process and opportunity to be heard.

RP 50:13-50:19.

As the trial court recognized, during the January 14, 2013 hearing, Mr. Sprague was afforded all the necessary procedural protections.

iii. The policy factor for application of administrative collateral estoppel does not support litigating Mr. Sprague's issues a second time.

In *Shoemaker* the court determined that the procedural fairness summarized above provided a "high degree of formality in ... proceedings" and that the Civil Service Commission complied with the applicable statute. 109 Wn.2d at 511, 745 P.2d 858. In turn, the

Shoemaker court found that the necessary policy considerations had been met. *Id.* As shown above, the procedure afforded to Mr. Sprague was the same or greater than that which satisfied policy considerations in *Shoemaker*. Moreover, the *Christiansen* court subsequently cited *Shoemaker* with approval and found that policy favored application of collateral estoppel to an administrative proceeding with the safeguards afforded in a civil service proceeding. *Christiansen*, 152 Wn.2d at 306-308; 312-316, 96 P.3d 957; *Shoemaker*, 109 Wn.2d at 513, 745 P.2d 858.

In sum, the third factor for application of administrative collateral estoppel is met.

3. Collateral estoppel properly bars Mr. Sprague's suit in Superior Court.

Mr. Sprague suggests that collateral estoppel does not bar the instant litigation because collateral estoppel only applies to factual issues which have been previously determined. He suggests that the Commission's legal determinations do not bar relitigation. Mr. Sprague has misinterpreted the doctrine of collateral estoppel.

In support of his position, Mr. Sprague asks the Court to rely on Williams v. Leone & Keeble, Inc., 171 Wn.2d 726, 254 P.3d 818 (2011). Williams is inapplicable to the instant situation. The Williams court reached its decision by interpreting Idaho law. Williams, 171 Wn.2d at

731, 254 P.3d 818. Idaho's interpretation of collateral estoppel is irrelevant to this case.

Collateral estoppel "prevents a second litigation of *issues* between the parties, even though a different claim or cause of action is asserted." *Christensen*, 152 Wn.2d at 306, 96 P.3d 957 (emphasis in original) (quoting *Rains*, 100 Wn.2d at 665, 674 P.2d 165).

In granting SVFD's Motion for Summary Judgment, the trial court found that:

My view is the Civil Service Commission has the competence to make the findings of fact that they did based upon the evidence that was produced to them. They would not have the competence to make a legal conclusion about constitutionality. Certainly you can infer from their ruling that they believe that the underpinnings of what makes the policy constitutional were met in this particular case and supported their decision that the agency had acted appropriately.

...this type of forum can make factual findings, including factual findings which may support or not support a constitutional finding. It is just the constitutional finding they cannot make. But they made all the necessary findings to support one and the issue was argued to them. This was not appealed and therefore the decision of the Civil Service Commission collaterally estops re-litigation of any of the matters before them, including whether or not the

fire department rule in question here is unconstitutional.

RP 50:4-50:12; 50:21-51:6. As the trial court properly found, the Commission made factual findings based upon the issues which were presented by the parties. As correctly noted by the trial court, the issues which were determined by the Commission are the identical issues which were before the trial court, thus Mr. Sprague's claims are barred by collateral estoppel. *Christensen*, 152 Wn.2d at 306, 96 P.3d 957; *Shoemaker*, 109 Wn.2d at 513, 745 P.2d 858.

C. Because SVFD's policy is constitutional, Mr. Sprague is not entitled to injunctive relief.

Mr. Sprague contends that the trial court erred in failing to grant the injunctive relief sought by way of his Amended Complaint. Such an argument ignores the facts before the Court.

Following the May 8, 2015 summary judgment hearing, the trial court ruled that SVFD's policy was constitutional and did not infringe upon Mr. Sprague's rights. CP 489-491. Based upon the trial court's ruling, Mr. Sprague's request for injunctive relief was moot and properly denied by the trial court.

VI. CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing argument and authority, Spokane Valley Fire Department and Mike and Linda Thompson respectfully request the Court to affirm the trial court's summary judgment orders.